Docket Number 78086

In the

SUPREME COURT

Electronically Filed Jun 25 2019 06:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

For the

STATE OF NEVADA

J.E. JOHNS & ASSOCIATES; A.J. JOHNSON,

Appellants,

v.

JOHN LINDBERG; MICHAL LINDBERG AND JUDITH LINDBERG

Respondent

Appeal from a Decision of the Second Judicial District of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, Court Case No. cv15-00281

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Glade L. Hall, Esq. Nevada State Bar #1609 105 Mt. Rose Street, Ste. B Reno, Nevada 89509 Telephone: (775) 324-6447 gladelhall@gmail.com

Attorney for the Appellants J.E. Johns & Associates; A.J. Johnson

Disclosure Statement, NRAP 26.1

INTRODUCTION

This case was commenced by Respondents under a claim of actual and punitive damages caused by alleged failure of the seller and real estate brokers and agents to disclose certain facts pertaining to the sale of a residence in a single family residential zone, where an auxiliary structure on the residential lot was connected underground to the septic system of the main residence. The auxiliary structure had been used as residence.

Respondents settled with the other defendants for \$57,5000, the seller settled the claim against them for \$50,000 and the buyer's broker and agent settled the claim against them for \$7,500.

Appellants made a formal offer of judgment in the amount of \$5,000 shortly after the other defendants settled. At that point in time, Respondents had incurred \$13,820.85 in attorneys' fees. The district court later found the actual damages suffered by Respondents to be \$27,663.95. Accordingly, at the time of the Appellants' Offer of Judgment, Respondents alleged injury was a total of \$41,494.80. Appellants' offer of \$5,000 would have brought the total recovery of the Respondents to \$62,500. Nevertheless, the district court ordered that Appellants were only entitled to a contribution from the sellers', Reynolds, settlement of one/third of the amount paid by the Reynolds.

After a rejected offer of judgment, the sellers' broker and alleged agent continued to trial before the district court, sitting without a jury.

The evidence showed that while the transaction was in its due diligence period, the Respondents received an inspection of the septic system which disclosed the actual capacity of the septic system. Respondents were also advised by the Reynolds that there was a blueprint of the septic system, but Respondents never bothered to request that blueprint. The Respondents proceeded to close escrow with this knowledge, thus invoking the provisions of NRS 113.150, that the buyers take the property under such circumstances without further recourse.

The district court found that the sellers' broker and agent mislead the buyers by failing to disclose that the septic tank was too small to serve the main residence and the Mother-in Law Quarters (hereinafter "MiLQ").

The district court found that the Respondents had been damaged by the cost to add additional septic system capacity and to obtain a variance authorizing residential use of the MiLQ.

The district court awarded Respondents claim for attorney's fees in the amount of \$48,116.84, together with interest thereon from the commencement of the case on February 10, 2015.

On Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment, based on the rejected offer of

judgment and contribution by the settled defendants, the district court reduced the damages award to \$3,513.95 but did not reduce the attorney's fee award.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the district court commit error of law when it held that the Appellants should have known that the septic tank was too small for the existing uses?
- 2. Did the district court commit error of law when it held that the Respondents were misled by Appellants on the size of the septic tank on the subject property when the actual size of the septic tank serving the property was determined and disclosed to Respondents in a written report which they signed off on at close of escrow?
- 3. Did the district court commit error of law when it failed to apply the provisions of NRS 113.110-150, that the buyer is without recourse if he or she elects to proceed to close escrow when the actual size of the septic tank serving the property was determined and disclosed to Respondents by a report which they signed at close of escrow?
- 4. Did the district court commit error of law when it found that the Respondents had been damaged by the costs of the addition of new septic capacity to obtain a variance to enable lawful usage of the MiLQ as residential living space?
- 5. Did the district court commit an error of law when it failed to find a wrongful rejection of an Offer of Judgment from the Appellants of \$5,000, at a point in time when the Respondents had settled with other defendants for \$57,500,

their attorney's fees were \$13,829.85, and the Respondents' actual damages were some \$27,663.95? Had these Appellants' offer of judgment been accepted, Respondents would have received a total of \$62,500 by way of settlement, on damages of \$27,663.95 and attorney's fees of \$13,820.85 for a total of \$41,484.80. Had these Appellants' offer of judgment been accepted, the additional attorney's fees of \$35,820.85 from that point in time forward would not have been incurred. Application of the sanctions of NRCP 68 to the Respondents would have been a complete denial of attorney's fees and costs, and the possibility of attorney's fees and costs to the Appellants herein.

- 6. Did the district court commit error of law when it awarded interest on the full amount of attorney's fees from February 10, 2015 on, when the fees had been incurred commencing in 2015 and the bulk of the time and charges were incurred during 2017 and 2018?
- 7. Was the cost of obtaining the additional septic tank capacity and variance the legally appropriate measure of damages for the alleged failure to disclose when Respondents could have continued lawful use of the lot and residence, without using the auxiliary structure as residence and have suffered no cost of such lawful use? The cost of obtaining the additional residential space was, therefore, not to

compensate for a loss, injury proximately caused by the corrected disclosure, during escrow, or that residential use of the MiLQ was not lawful.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In September of 2012, the Reynolds, defendants in the district court, were the owners of real property commonly known as 20957 Eaton Road, Washoe County, Nevada (Hereinafter, "the property"). (App. 3, 615 and 607). The property consisted of a single family residence, a two-bay garage, one bay of which was converted into the MiLQ with a second story loft, and a barn, part of which was converted into an office area. (App. 603) The MiLQ had been constructed under a building permit but the final inspection had not been performed. (App. 213). The MiLQ was being occupied at the time of the subject sale by Reynolds mother-in-law. (App. 598). That space was also used by the Lindbergs (buyers) as a mother-in-law quarters immediately after the property was purchased. Sewage disposal for the property was by a septic system. (App. 614 - 615).

The market area of the property was described by the involved appraiser as typically having "out buildings, finished and unfinished, garages, barns and guest houses". The appraiser also opined that the improvements to the subject (the improved area of the garage and barn) as conforming for the area and may contribute to the overall marketability of the subject. (*Id.*). The appraiser reported

that the (App. 614) Washoe County Assessor's records show the MiLQ "guest house" as containing 1460 sq. ft. More important, the appraiser reports that "Over time, the guest house has been improved to be more in line with the quality of the main residence, however, the improvements may or may not be legal and for appraisal purposes, were given little value." (App. 614, Emphasis supplied). He noted that the Washoe County Assessor's office shows these improvements and their dimensions, which he has accepted and reported.

On September 21, 2012, Reynolds met with appellant, AJ. Johnson (Hereinafter "A.J.") to complete the documents necessary to authorize A.J. to list and sell the property. These included a SELLER'S REAL PROPERTY DISCLOSURE form (App. 177), a DUTIES OWED BY A NEVADA BY REAL ESTATE LICENSEE form (App. 602), and a Residential Listing Input form. (App. 603).

The Residential Listing Input form is signed by the Reynolds. Above their signatures is a section of the form which provides:

Execution of this listing input form confirms that I/we have executed concurrently herewith an "Exclusive right to sell listing agreement with the undersigned licensee unless otherwise noted in the body of the listing form

I/we acknowledge that the information herein is true and correct to the best of my/our knowledge and I/we agree to indemnify and hold the undersigned licensee his/her broker, and the NNMLS free and harmless...from any liability or damage arising from incorrect or undisclosed information provided by me/us. Reynolds dated and signed this form. (App. 593).

The information provided by the Reynolds and accepted by A.J. was that the property had 3 bedrooms, 2 baths, and a total of 3880 feet of living space, 2180 square feet of that reported space was in the main house and 1700 was in the "second house." Reynolds told A.J. that the square footage was correct because "... they had had permits and had the in-law quarters completed." (Tr. 93, See also Tr. 93 and 102 "all permits in place"). The Reynolds requested that A. J. list the living area as 3880 square feet. A. J. felt uncertain about how the listing described the property and so telephoned the board of realtors and spoke with the their attorney who advised her that so long as she described the breakdown of the square footage among the three structures in the 'Remarks' section of the listing, the listing would be appropriate. (Tr. 93). A.J. relisted the property in accordance with that advice two hours after the initial listing had been entered. (Tr. I, 93).

A.J.'s listing; however, was withdrawn by her broker Jim Johns (Hereinafter "Johns"), and the property was relisted with Johns as the listing agent/broker on December 1, 2012. (App. 192). Based, again, on information supplied by the Reynolds and the Washoe County Assessor's office, the listing stated that the total

living space was 3,880 square feet. The MLS "Remarks" on this listing clarified that the property was comprised of three separate units. (App. 162). Among other "puffing," the listing states "Three separate units on the property in-law quarters or guest house, office or studio or tack room or office. The possibilities are endless. . .." (App. 193).

Lindbergs employed Ken Amundson and Brian F. Kincannon to represent them in the ensuing transaction. An offer to purchase the property for \$375,000, prepared by Amundson, was presented to the Reynolds on January 3, 2013. (App. 184). On January 4, 2013, Reynolds counteroffer of \$385,000 was accepted. (App. 183). The agency disclosure forms prepared by both A. J. and Johns and later signed by the Lindbergs clearly stated that A. J. and Johns were representing the interests of the sellers and not the interests of the buyers, the Lindbergs. (App. 602).

On January 3, 2013, the Lindbergs acknowledged that they had read and understood the Information Regarding Private Well and Septic System form provided to them by their own agent. (App. 189). This form recites the following:

Real Estate agents have no special training, knowledge or expertise concerning these systems. The Seller is required by law to disclose any problems with the system on the SELLER'S REAL PROPERTY DISCLOSURE FORM. The seller's disclosure is not a substitute for thorough and professional inspection

of the system by licensed professionals.

The buyer is strongly urged to obtain such inspections. Performance in the past is not an indication. . ..

If you are buying a home with a private well and/or septic system, it is the buyer's responsibility to have the system checked by licensed professionals and to verify costs associated with owning these systems. Buyer is advised to check with the appropriate agencies to verify potential costs and time frame associated with hook-up to public systems. NEITHER THE SELLER, NOR THE SELLER'S AGENT WARRANT THE CONDITION OF THE PRIVATE WELL OR SEPTIC SYSTEMS AND WILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR FUTURE PROBLEMS DISCOVERED AFTER CLOSE OF ESCROW.

Also, on January 3, 2013, the Lindbergs submitted questions to Reynolds through their agents concerning the septic tank capacity and other issues with the property. (App. 656). Reynolds responded through A. J. that the septic tank capacity was 1500 gallons. A. J. made a typographical error by passing on the information to Amundson that the capacity was 15,000 gallons. (App. 657). The Offer and Acceptance Agreement, required Reynolds to provide a "SEPTIC PUMPING" and a "SEPTICE INSPECTION". (App. 187, ln. 42-43).

Waters Vacuum Truck Service was employed to pump the septic system and make that inspection. On January 18, 2013, Waters submitted their report to the escrow. (App. 206 - 212). A copy was sent to the Lindbergs through their agents.

(Tr. pg. 34). The capacity of the septic tank was disclosed as being 1000 gallons in that report in three separate places: (App. 208, upper middle of page; App. 209, middle of page: and App. 211 upper middle of page, right side.). Lindberg admits that he was aware of the septic capacity before close of escrow. (Tr. I, 34).

Copies of these pages were presented to the Lindbergs, read by them, and signed during close of escrow under the notation "Read and Approved". Witness, Gloria Grubic, the escrow officer conducting the transaction, testified that the Lindbergs did, in fact, read and accept those pages. (Tr. III, 9).

When Reynolds first contacted A.J. to list their property with her, A.J. recommended that they obtain an appraisal to determine what the listing price should be. (Tr. 114). A.J. also wrote in the listing form, "Agent request appraisal be done to verity info." (App. 600). Reynolds employed an appraiser, Richard Lake, to conduct an appraisal as requested by A.J. The report describes the subject property as having three bedrooms, (App. 614, mid page), 2180 sq. ft. of "Gross Living Area", (*Id.* mid-page). The appraiser notes:

"The subject also has the utility of a guest house and a loft above the guest house. (App. 615)

The guest house is 1460 sq. ft. The Washoe County Assessor shows the guest house and a loft above the guest house. Over time, the guest house has been improved to be more in line with the quality of the main residence, however, the improvements may

or may not be legal and for appraisal purposes, were given little value. With that said, since the market area typically has out buildings, finished and unfinished, garages, barns and guest houses, the improvements to the subject is conforming for the area and may contribute to the overall marketability of the subject.

(*Id.* text, bottom) (Emphasis supplied).

The appraisal confirms that the property was zoned LDS, single family residential. (App. 615).

This appraisal was delivered to the Lindbergs agent and Lindbergs saw the appraisal in their agent's office at the time the offer was being prepared. (Tr. 27).

Inspections of the well, and a general inspection were performed, and the resulting reports delivered to the Lindbergs. (App.206-214). Lindbergs were advised that Reynolds had a blueprint of the septic system and were willing to share that with the Lindbergs. (App. 657, ln. 2, 659). Note that App. 653 discloses that the septic system served both houses. (App. 653, ln. 1). There is no record of the Lindbergs making any effort to obtain this blueprint.

During this process, neither A. J. nor Johns met with, or communicated directly with the Lindbergs.

Just prior to close of escrow, and pursuant to the OFFER AND ACCEPTANCE AGREEMENT, (App. 187, lns. 50 -51), the Lindbergs conducted

a walk-through inspection of the property to ensure compliance with the terms of this agreement. They did so on February 26, 2013 and signed the WALK THROUGH AND PROPERTY CONDITION RELEASE with the notation "Fine per Inspection". (App. 700).

At the close of escrow, the Lindbergs were presented with the appraisal of the property, the septic report, a well report, and other documents that accurately described the property. The Lindbergs acknowledged receipt of such reports, signed off on them with the notation, "Read and Approved," and proceeded to close the escrow. (Tr. III, 9-12).

Accordingly, the Lindbergs accepted the subject property with full knowledge of the conditions and circumstances of the property. Specifically: that the zoning allowed single family residences, that the MiLQ may or may not be lawfully used for residential purposes; that the septic tank capacity was 1000 gallons, and that the one septic tank served both houses. It is the falsely alleged failure to disclose these conditions and circumstances that were the basis for the claims in the instant action. (App. 35-37).

Note that notwithstanding the knowledge that the MiLQ may or may not be lawfully used for residential purposes, the Reynolds were using the mother-in-law quarters to house their mother in law and the Lindbergs mother-in-law occupied

those quarters immediately after close of escrow, (App. 250, lower left of page), "property has since sold and has continued illegal use." (App. 655, upper page and App. 664-5).

The legal basis for Respondents' allegations against Appellants is a duty owing to the Respondents to disclose material and relevant information concerning the property and a breach of that duty. (App. 35-37).

However, both available appraisals were based on there being only 2,180 square feet of living space. Moreover, the appraisal report dated February 19, 2013, indicated an appraised value of \$406,838.00, using the cost approach, and based solely on the size of the primary structure of 2,180 square feet. Clearly, neither the in-law quarters nor the barn office were considered as living area in the two valuations. They were given little value by the appraisers (App. 559). Lindbergs paid \$385,000.00 for the property. The appraisals each set the fair market value of the property at \$400,000.00 and \$406,000.00. Accordingly, the Lindbergs did not pay for any living area outside the 2,180 square feet of the main residence.

On January 19, 2013, the Lindbergs read and approved the Waters Vacuum Truck Service invoice and report that disclosed that the septic tank size of the subject property was 1000 gallons.

On February 26, 2013, Lindbergs signed the standard WALK THROUGH AND PROPERTY CONDITION RELEASE (App. 700), reciting that they had inspected the premises located at 20957 Eaton Road on that date and agreed that:

"all inspections requested and/or deemed needed have been performed and the results and/or and the results and/or copies of the inspections have been provided to Me/us. All repairs previously requested of the SELLER(S) have been either personally inspected or receipts of work completed have been provided to Me/us. I/We/ do approve of all repairs. If there were other inspections requested in the Offer and Acceptance Agreement that I/We choose not to do, I/We hereby waive the need for those inspections to be completed.

The following items are not in compliance with the purchase agreement and must be corrected prior to close of escrow or funds for their completion may be held in escrow until satisfied.

(LEFT BLANK) ."

Over one year after close of escrow, the Lindbergs commenced this action, ultimately suing the Reynolds based on fraud and suing Appellants, and their own agent and broker for violation of NRS 645.252. In their Complaint, the Lindbergs allege that A.J. should have known the size of the sewer tank prior to the inspection by Waters and should have known that the existing tank was too small to serve the property. This allegation refers to a point in time when no one knew or

could have known the tank capacity because it was buried underground and the "problems could not be directly identified." (App. pg. 88, ln. 14-15).

The sellers, Reynolds, and the Lindbergs' broker and agent settled out of the action as will be described in detail in a following section of this brief.

Appellants elected to proceed to a bench trial. Respondents called Ms. Cartinella, alleged to be an expert, as their principle witness on liability.

The district court's decision is embodied in the FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND JUDGMENT, entered September 18, 2018.

(App. 85-94). The court finds that all parties were aware of the zoning code violation prior to close of escrow. (App., ln. 20). It was apparent, however, that the property could be lawfully used as long as the MiLQ were not used as residential areas.

The district court ruled in favor of Respondents. The court states in its order that it considered Ms. Cartinella to be a credible witness and relied on her testimony in making its decision. (App. 87). Appellants submits that such reliance was misplaced.

The district court has interpreted her testimony to be that an agent must know "relevant state laws, zoning requirements, and health regulations." (App 87

and 89, lns. 2-3). This is contrary to the actual standard dictated by the Nevada Legislature as will be shown hereinafter.

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