IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

J.E. JOHNS & ASSOCIATES, a Nevada business entity; and A.J. JOHNSON, an individual,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

VS.

JOHN LINDBERG, an individual; MICHAL LINDBERG, an individual; and JUDITH L. LINDBERG, an individual,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

No. 78086

District Court (2008) 2019 10:40 a.m. CV15-0028 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada In and For Washoe County

The Honorable Jerome Polaha, District Judge Presiding

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF AND OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of the Argument

The District Court's factual findings should not be disturbed in this matter because those findings are supported by substantial evidence. The factual findings of the District Court support the original judgment and the amended judgment. The Appellants' entire argument is premised on a fundamental misunderstanding of the District Court's factual findings.

The actual size of the septic tank and its condition are not the issues upon which liability was found against the Appellants. These issues were disclosed or, prior erroneous disclosures were altered, during this transaction. However, as soon

⁴ Appellants omitted the exhibits attached to this Opposition, which Respondents include in Respondents' Appendix at Vol. II pp. RA 0219 – RA 0279.

as the actual size of the septic tank was discovered through appropriate inspections, all other available information caused the Appellants to know or they should have known that the septic system in its existing condition at the property was inadequate. This conclusion is supported by the unchallenged expert testimony of the only expert that testified in this case. The Appellants did not disclose this information, which they knew or which they should have known, to the Respondents.

The Respondents were damaged by the Appellants' failure to disclose information that they knew or that they should have known related to the adequacy of the septic system. This is because the Respondents were required to make significant improvements to the septic system for them to continue to occupy the property they had already purchased. The Respondents could have avoided or limited these damages if the Appellants had complied with their statutory disclosure requirements under NRS 645.252, NRS 645.257, and NAC 645.600. Nothing in the law can be used to require the Respondents to limit their occupancy of the property to only using one of the two advertised residential structures, as Appellants suggest in their Opening Brief.

The District Court appropriately evaluated this case under NRCP 68, correctly denying the Appellants' claim that the Respondents did not obtain a better result than the Appellants' \$5,000.00 offer of judgment. An "apples-to-apples" comparison of the judgment obtained with the \$5,000.00 offer of judgment shows that

Respondents obtained a much better result going to trial. Finally, an award of interest on attorney's fees and costs awarded as damages is appropriately measured from the date Respondents filed their complaint in this matter until the present.

Finally, the Appellants do not challenge the District Court's second basis for liability found to exist in this case. According to the District Court, Appellants knew or should have known that the property as it stood at the time of sale violated local zoning requirements. (Appellants' Appendix Vol. 1 pp. 93-94). To obtain a variance to have more than one structure on the property, Respondents were required to update the septic system. (Id.) As a result, Respondents were damaged when the Appellants failed to disclose that the property as constructed violated zoning requirements, which is something the Appellants knew or should have known. (Id.) This second basis of liability is also supported by substantial evidence.

B. Standard of Review

Appellants' Opening Brief does not set forth the standard of review applicable to its appeal. Appellants also spend a significant amount of time in their Opening Brief questioning the expert credentials and testimony of Sherrie Cartinella (Opening Brief at pp. 16-24), but Appellants do not ascribe any error to the District Court for admitting Ms. Cartinella's testimony or for relying upon her expert opinions. (Opening Brief at pp. 4-5). Elsewhere in their Opening Brief, Appellants do not challenge the District Court's award of attorney's fees to Respondents as

damages in this case, but Appellants simply question the award of interest on the amount of the awarded attorney's fees from the date Respondents served their complaint in this matter to the present. (Opening Brief at p. 5, paragraph 6). In the Statement of Issues set forth in Appellants' Opening Brief, they claim various "errors of law," but they fail entirely to outline the standard of review to be applied to such claimed "errors." (Opening Brief at pp. 4-5). Without such guidance from the Appellants, Respondents are unfairly disadvantaged on how to address Appellants' stated issues on appeal.

Instead, Respondents must guess as to what the District Court did wrong in this case. For example, should this Court review the District Court's decision to award interest on attorney's fees under a *de novo* standard, or are such decisions by the District Court reviewed for an abuse of discretion? In the "LAW" section of Appellant's Opening Brief (Opening Brief at pp. 25-29), Appellants refer to many statutes, but they offer no standard of review for their apparent claim that the District Court misapplied these statutory provisions at trial. When discussing the factual findings of the District Court that A.J. Johnson knew or should have known that the septic system was too small for the residential structures found at the property, Appellants cite an "arbitrary and capricious" standard for the review of this factual determination. (Opening Brief at p. 35). Appellants also reference a statutory presumption arising under NRS 47.150(16) but fail to describe how this presumption

applies in this case. (Id.) Appellants also briefly cite the "plain error" standard when assessing the factual findings of the District Court but fail to cite any case law that illuminates this standard. (Id. at p. 38). Here, for the issues Appellants raise in their Opening Brief, Respondents must assume that the "plain error" standard, also known as the "arbitrary and capricious" standard, is the standard of review that applies on this appeal.

Under the arbitrary and capricious standard of review, the Nevada Supreme Court will review a District Court's disposition of a motion to amend or alter a judgment under NRCP 59(e) for an abuse of discretion, giving deference to a District Court's order on the motion to amend. See AA Primo Builders LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev. 578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010)(citing 11 C. Wright, A. Miller & M. Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2810.1, at 119 (2d Ed. 1995); Arnold v. *Kip*, 123 Nev. 410, 168 P.3d 1050 (2007)). A court abuses its discretion when the record contains no evidence to support a district court's decision. Oregon Natural Res. Council v. Marsh, 52 F.3d 1485, 1492 (9th Cir. 1995). Under abuse of discretion review, courts do "not substitute [their] judgment for that of the district court." Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 779 (1990). Moreover, when reviewing a District Court's stated findings of fact, an abuse of discretion standard of review also applies, meaning that the Supreme Court will defer to the District Court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous or

not based on substantial evidence. *May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672-73, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005). Here, because Appellants challenge the factual findings of the District Court that support the original judgment and the amended judgment and they question the District Court's handling of their motion to amend, an abuse of discretion standard applies. Because Appellants cannot demonstrate that the District Court clearly erred in its decision or that the findings of fact were not supported by substantial evidence, the Supreme Court should uphold the District Court's findings that ultimately support the original judgment and the amended judgment.⁵

C. The First Two Issues Presented for Review in the Appellants' Opening Brief are tainted with an Incorrect Assessment of the District Court's Findings of Fact.

In their Opening Brief, the Appellants demonstrate a fundamental misunderstanding of the evidence presented at trial and the factual findings of the District Court, which are substantially supported by the evidence in the record in this case. Over the course of their Opening Brief, the Appellants assert that the Respondents have "falsely alleged" that the Appellants failed "to disclose [the actual size of the septic tank]" before the Appellants could have known its size and that this

Respondents maintain and will argue *infra* in their Opening Brief on Cross-Appeal that it was an abuse of discretion for the District Court to amend the original judgment at all in this matter. However, Respondents contend that the factual findings that supported the original judgment and the amended judgment should not be disturbed by the Supreme Court.

failure to disclose forms the basis of the Respondents' claims for relief. (Opening Brief at p. 13). Appellants then spend multiple pages in their Opening Brief arguing factual findings that were never actually entered by the District Court. (Opening Brief at pp. 35-41).

In their Opening Brief, Appellants wrongfully contend that the District Court in this case found that the Appellants should have known the size of the septic tank at this property BEFORE the septic tank was inspected during due diligence. (Id.) Yet, the District Court never found that the Appellants should have known this fact before the true size of the septic tank became known on or about January 18, 2013. Instead, the District Court specifically found that, once the actual size of the septic tank became known to the Appellants AFTER the January 18, 2013 septic inspection, the Appellants should have also known that the septic tank was not adequate for the property in question. (Appellants' Appendix Vol. I pp. 90-91). The actual size of the tank and when its size became known are not the issue in this case. Instead, the issue decided by the District Court at trial centered on whether the Appellants appropriately disclosed information about the septic tank they should have known AFTER Appellants learned of the septic tank's true size as a result of the January 18, 2013 septic inspection. (Id.) This transaction did not close until February 28, 2013, meaning that from January 18, 2013 to the closing date, the Appellants (and the Respondents' realtor) had ample opportunity to disclose to the

Respondents the information they should have known about the septic system. The Appellants did not disclose this information, resulting in damages to Respondents.

To clarify this issue, the factual record presented at trial establishes with substantial evidence that the Respondents eventually agreed to purchase the property from the Appellants' clients on January 4, 2013, after offers and counteroffers were made. (Appellants Appendix Vol. I pp. 183-190). The closing for this sale was to take place on February 28, 2013. (Id.) Before Respondents agreed to purchase the property, Respondents asked various questions about the septic tank, including questions about its size. (Id. at pp. 656-657).⁶ During due diligence prior to closing, the Appellants secured an inspection of the septic tank on January 18, 2013, which was then forwarded to Respondents through their realtor on January 19, 2013. (Id. at Vol. I pp. 206-212 and Vol. III p. 659).⁷ After January 18, 2013, Appellants knew

The Appellants wrongfully disclosed to Respondents, through their realtor, prior to closing and before the septic tank was inspected that the tank was 15,000 gallons. This misreporting, however, is not the issue in this case. The issue is that Appellants failed to disclose information they should have known about the septic system AFTER the true size of the septic tank was made known on January 18, 2013, more than a month prior to closing.

Appellants falsely state in their Opening Brief that *the Respondents* contracted with Waters Vacuum Truck Service to inspect the septic system at the property. (Opening Brief at p. 37). It is clear from the record in this case that *the Appellants and their clients* were required to obtain this inspection and in fact obtained the inspection, and then they forwarded the inspection to Respondents' realtor, as shown in multiple exhibits presented at trial. (Appellants' Appendix Vol. 1 p. 187 and pp. 206-212).

the actual size of the septic tank. (Id.) At this same time, Appellants knew the acreage size of the property upon which two residential structures with four total bedrooms were located. (Respondents' Appendix Vol. 2 p. RA 0367.) Appellants also knew that the two residential structures were served by only one septic tank. (Appellants' Appendix Vol. III p. 657). Appellants knew the zoning requirements of the property and that only one septic tank could be constructed on the property. (Respondents' Appendix Vol. III p. RA 0550 – RA 0551).

With all of this information that the Appellants knew on or after January 18, 2013, Appellants also knew or should have known that the septic tank was not appropriately sized for this residential property, as stated in the testimony of the only expert witness that testified at trial in this case, Sherrie Cartinella. (Respondents' Appendix Vol. III pp. RA 0453 – RA 0468 and RA 0488 – RA 0490.)⁸ The septic tank was only 1,000 gallons in size, but the Appellants knew or should have known that a property of this size with the number of bedrooms located at the property required a 1,500-gallon septic tank. (Respondents' Appendix Vol. III pp. RA 0453 – RA 0468 and RA 0488 - 0490. Appellants (and Respondents' realtor) were duty

⁻

Appellants obtained expert testimony during discovery in this matter that attempted to rebut the testimony of Sherrie Cartinella, but this expert testimony was either not presented during trial or was excluded by the District Court prior to trial. Appellants do not challenge the District Court's ruling that excluded some expert testimony from Appellants' experts at trial. Appellants have not offered why they did not present any other expert witness testimony at trial.

bound by statute to disclose that the septic tank, as constructed, was not adequate for the property in question, as set forth in the testimony of Sherrie Cartinella. (Id.) The District Court never held or found that Appellants should have known the size of the septic tank prior to January 18, 2013, and the Appellants' six-page argument in their Opening Brief that the District Court so concluded is simply wrong.

According to the District Court in its findings of fact and conclusions of law the District Court concluded that Appellants:

"knew the actual size of the septic during this transaction, which was much smaller than previously disclosed. Because the size of the septic system was much smaller than previously disclosed, the [Appellants] should have exercised reasonable care to investigate the septic system further. In so doing, this Court concludes that [the Appellants] should have known that the septic system was too small for the residential property in its existing state at the time of the sale. [The Appellants] should have then disclosed this information to [the Respondents] during this transaction." (Appellants' Appendix Vol. I p. 93).

The District Court also found that, even though the Respondents knew the actual size of the septic tank after January 18, 2013, the Respondents themselves had no way of appreciating that the septic tank was inappropriately sized for the property they were in the process of purchasing. (Id. at 91). The Respondents' realtors, on the other hand, also should have known that the septic tank was not appropriately sized, and these realtors also should have disclosed this to the Respondents, which is why these realtors were also defendants in this case at one time. (Id.) These findings of fact and legal conclusions of the District Court are supported by

substantial evidence and should not be disturbed by this Court. Accordingly, the Court should reject the Appellants' first two stated issues presented for review found in Appellants' Opening Brief because these two issues rely on a false narrative that the District Court concluded that the Appellants should have known the size of the septic tank prior to January 18, 2013. That was not a finding of the District Court.

D. Knowing the Actual Size of the Septic Tank and how the Septic System was Constructed are not the Issues in this Case and NRS 113.110-150 do not, therefore, Apply.

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